## SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-02098

W. C. FORE d/b/a W. C. FORE TRUCKING, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE f/k/a
MISSISSIPPI STATE TAX COMMISSION, MISSISSIPPI
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY AND
MISSISSIPPI COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL
QUALITY

**APPELLEES** 

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

ATTORNEY FOR W.C. FORE d/b/a W.C. FORE TRUCKING, INC., APPELLANT:

II.	Statement of the Case		
	A.	Nature of the Case	
	B.	Statement of the Facts	
III.	Summary of Argument		
IV.	Argument		
	A.	Standard of Review	
	B	The Delancey and LoBouy Sites Were Not Commercial Non-Hazardous Solid Waste Management Facilities	
	C.	MSTC's Unequal Treatment of Certain Emergency Sites was Arbitrary and Capricious and in Violation of Fore's Constitutional Rights	
	D.	Fore Did Not Operate That Portion of The Delancey Site Utilized by Phillips And Jordan, Inc. (P & J)	
V.	Conclusion		
Certifi	cate of	Service	

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# CASES

A.C. Lambert, Sr., Chairman, Mississippi State Tax Commission v.  Mississippi Limestone Corp., 405 So.2d 131 (Miss. 1981)
Allegheny Pittsburgh Coal Co. v. Commission of Webster Cty., West Virginia, 488 U.S. 336, 109 S. Ct. 633, 102 L. Ed. 2d 688,(1989)
Boliver County, Mississippi v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. and Town of Winstonville, 797 So.2d 790 (1999)
<u>City of Indianapolis, et al., v. Armour, et al.,</u> 918 N.E. 2d 401, (Ind. App. 2009) 2009 Ind. App. LEXIS 2669
<u>Crosby v. Barr</u> , 198 So.2d 571, 573-74 (Miss. 1967), 1967 Miss. LEXIS 1263 14
<u>Fitzgerald v. Racing Ass'n of Central Iowa,</u> 539 U.S. 103, 108, 123 S. Ct. 2156, 156 L. Ed. 2d 97 (2003)
<u>Gerhart v. Lake County Montana, et al.</u> , 637 F.3d 1013, (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011), 2010 U.S. App. Lexis 27112
<u>Lindquist v. City of Pasadena,</u> 525 F. 3d 383, 397 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008), 2008 U.S. App. LEXIS 8118
<u>Mikeska v. City of Galveston</u> , 451 F.3d 376, 378-79 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006), 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 13927
MSTC v. Medical Devices, Inc., 624 So.2d 987, 990-991(Miss. 1993), 1993 Miss. LEXIS 419
Mississippi Comm'n on Environmental Quality v. Chickasaw County Board of Supervisors, 621 So.2d 1211, 1216 (Miss. 1993), 1993 Miss. LEXIS 290
Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Dyer Investment Co., Inc., 507 So.2d 1287, 1289 (Miss. 1987), 1987 Miss. LEXIS 2521
<u>Sioux City Bridge Co. V. Dakota County</u> , 260 U.S. 441, 43 S. Ct. 190, 67 L. Ed. 340 (1923)
<u>State Tax Commission v. Reliance Manufacturing Co.,</u> 236 Miss. 462, 470-71, 111 So.2d 225, 228 (1959), 1959 Miss. LEXIS 340 14
State Tax Commission of the State of Mississippi v. Earnest, 627 So.2d 313, 320 (Miss. 1993), 1993 Miss. LEXIS 400
Stotter v. University of Texas at San Antonio, et al., 508 F.3d 812 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007) 2007 U.S. App. LEXIS 27397

Suddith v. University of Southern Mississippi, 977 So.2d 1158 (Ms. Ct. App. 2007), Miss. App. LEXIS 492
<u>Sunday Lake Iron Co., v. Township of Wakefield,</u> 247 U.S. 350, 352, 38 S. Ct. 495, 62 L. Ed. 1154,(1918)
<u>Tenneco, Inc. V. Barr,</u> 224 So.2d 208, 214-215 (Miss. 1969), 1969 Miss. LEXIS 1291
<u>Village of Willowbrook, et al. v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562,</u> 120 S. Ct. 1073, 145 L. Ed. 2d 1060 (2000)
Walker, et al., v. Board of Supervisors of Monroe County, Mississippi, 224 Miss. 801, 81 So.2d 225, 232 (1955), 1955 Miss. LEXIS 543
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
U.S. Const. amend XIV
<u>STATUTES</u>
Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219 (1972, as amended) 1, 2, 6, 11, 12, 13, 19, 20, 21, 22
Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219(1)
Miss. Code Ann. § 27-65-23
Miss. Code Ann. § 27-77-5
Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-1 (1972, as amended)
Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-11(b)(17)
Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-17
Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-31
Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-31(b)
OTHER
12 Am. Jur., Constitutional Law, § 469
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)
Miss. Adm. Code, Title 35, Part 1, Chapter 1, § 107 §§ 107.01 - 107.02

. .

.

i .

i

i.

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether emergency waste disposal sites established after Hurricane Katrina were subject to the fees imposed on Commercial Non-hazardous Solid Waste
   Management Facilities pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219 (1972, as amended);
- 2. Whether the actions of the Mississippi State Tax Commission (hereinafter "MSTC")<sup>1</sup> in granting favorable treatment to certain emergency waste disposal site operators were arbitrary and capricious and in violation of W.C. Fore's d/b/a W. C. Fore Trucking, Inc.,<sup>2</sup> constitutional rights; and
- 3. Whether the City of Gulfport's Contractor, Phillips & Jordan, Inc. (hereinafter "P & J") was the operator of that portion of the Delancey Site where the City of Gulfport's hurricane debris was placed and thereby was responsible for any fees imposed on same.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Mississippi State Tax Commission has now been reorganized and its name changed to the Department of Revenue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As noted in the Lower Court's Opinion, all parties have treated the corporation as an individual and there should be no distinction regarding whether the tax, if any, is owed by the individual or the corporation.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A) Nature of Case

In August of 2006, Fore was notified by the Mississippi State Tax Commission (hereinafter MSTC) that he was required to submit a "Non-hazardous Solid Waste Fee Annual Report" for two emergency disposal sites, being the Delancey site and the LoBouy site, that were established to handle Hurricane Katrina debris. The notice specifically stated that a report should be filed even though no fees were due. In response to the notice, Fore stated that he was providing emergency relief after Hurricane Katrina and was not operating a commercial disposal site. Thereafter, the MSTC issued a Letter Ruling (L.R.) 06.360, which concluded the following:

If these sites were managed for compensation, then these sites would be considered commercial disposal sites and be subject to the filing requirement and payment of \$1.00 per ton of solid waste set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219. I can not find anything in this statute that would exempt these facilitites. Please forward to our office documentation from the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality stating that your site is not a commercial disposal site and we will reconsider our position on this issue.

[Exh. 4-38, R. at p. 191]<sup>3</sup>

L.R. 06.360 also provided that if you disagree with this Letter Ruling you may appeal to Randy Ladner, Director, Office of Revenue. It should be noted that in this Letter Ruling, the MSTC concluded that Fore was subject to the fee; however, in a prior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Trial Exhibit No. 4 is the joint 30(b)(6) Deposition Exhibits of the Appellees numbered 1-50 excluding Deposition Exhibits 16 and 23, which were not admitted into evidence. The reference to 38 is Exhibit 38 to the Deposition.

Letter Ruling being L.R. 06.156, the MSTC waived all fees for another emergency site operator for all of 2005 and a portion of 2006. In that Letter Ruling, the MSTC took the position that since this emergency site operator was not notified of the fee prior to February 2006, the emergency site operator should not be required to pay same prior to that date. [Exh. 4 - 36, R. at 191] The MSTC arbitrarily failed to apply this interpretation to Fore and was well aware that Fore also did not receive notification of the fee prior to February of 2006.

Consistent with the directions contained in the Letter Ruling, on December 5, 2006, Fore's attorney notified MSTC of his disagreement with the Letter Ruling and requested a formal appeal of same. On February 7, 2007, the MSTC, through its attorney, Gary Stringer, notified Fore's attorney that the L.R. 06.360 was in error in that there was not an appeal available. In addition, Mr. Stringer noted that an administrative appeal of this matter could not be had until an assessment was made or the MSTC had denied a refund claim.

Fore did not receive any further communications from the MSTC until September 27, 2007, when he received another letter indicating that the MSTC was billing Fore for non-hazardous waste fees, interest and penalties, based on tonnage reported to the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ). The letter further provided that if no compensation was paid to him for waste received at the facility, he could resolve the discrepancey by reporting the appropriate tonnage on the enclosed Non-hazaroudous Waste Fee Annual Report.

In response to this letter, on October 30, 2007, Fore, through his attorney, submitted the "Mississippi Non-hazardous Solid Waste Fee Annual Report" for both

emergency disposal sites and specifically noted that no fees were due. Thereafter, on March 21, 2008, the MSTC made a formal assessment of \$333,182.00 in Non-hazardous Solid Waste Fees, \$69,968.22 in interest, and \$33,318.20 in penalties. Fore appealed this assessment to the Board of Review on April 22, 2008.

On August 26, 2008, the Board of Review entered its Order upholding and affirming the Assessment of Non-hazardous Solid Waste Fees in the amount of \$436,468.42. Pursuant to the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. § 27-77-5 and Title 35, Part I, Chapter 01, Section 107, Sub-section 107.01-107.02 of the Mississippi Administrative Code, Fore perfected his appeal of this determination to the three (3) member Mississippi State Tax Commission. On March 3, 2009, the three (3) member Commission rendered its decision affirming the imposition of the fee in the amount of Three Hundred Thirty-Three Thousand, One Hundred Eighty-Two and 00/100 Dollars (\$333,182.00), but removed the interest and penalty [Record Excerpts (R. Ex.) Tab 3] full the amount affirmed by the Commission under protest and on March 31, 2009, filed his Petition against MSTC seeking a refund of the fees paid in the Chancery Court of Harrison County, First Judicial District, Mississippi. On May 18, 2009, the Department of Environmental Quality and the Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality (hereinafter referred to as "MDEQ") filed a Motion to Intervene as party Defendants. Fore did not oppose the Motion to Intervene.

All four of the Chancellors of the Eighth Chancery Court District recused themselves and on July 29, 2009, the Supreme Court appointed Eugene L. Fair as a Harrison County Chancellor to hear the case. Discovery followed pursuant to scheduling orders agreed to by both sides. Hearings regarding production of evidence

took place and the matter was tried before Judge Fair commencing on March 18, 2010.

On November 29, 2010, Judge Fair entered his Opinion and Final Judgment affirming the Order of MSTC. [R. Ex. Tab 2]

#### B. Statement of the Facts

Hurricane Katrina devastated the Mississippi Gulf Coast on August 29, 2005. By Proclamation dated September 2, 2005, the Governor declared a state of emergency in areas of the State affected by Hurricane Katrina and directed agencies of the State to discharge their emergency responsibilities as deemed necessary. In addition, on September 13, 2005, the Governor, pursuant to the Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-11(b)(17), signed a Resolution delegating and authorizing the Executive Director of the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) to execute an Emergency Order. [See Resolution, Exh. 84, R. at 191] Pursuant to the Emergency Order, the MDEQ found in part as follows:

The Hurricane has created conditions that require immediate action to prevent irreparable damage to the environment and serious threats to life or safety throughout the emergency areas. It is the opinion of the Executive Director that an emergency situation exists which creates an imminent and substantial endangerment threatening the public health and safety and the lives and property of the people of Mississippi. Therefore, the undersigned, acting on behalf of the Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality and consistent with the Governor's Resolution dated September 13, 2005, hereby declares that an emergency exists and entry of this Emergency Order is warranted. Pursuant to this Order, the following measures are ordered to prevent irreparable damage to the environment and serious threats to safety, life and human health within the emergency areas:

[See pages 1 and 2 of the Emergency Order attached to Resolution, Exh. 84, R. at 191]

One of the measures directed to be taken was the creation of emergency disposal sites for vegetation debris and for building and structural debris that resulted from the hurricane. There were no statutory or regulatory provisions which addressed how emergency disposal sites were to be established and the requirements for same. None of the documents or orders authorizing or establishing emergency sites or the regulations of MDEQ indicated or referenced these emergency sites as being Commercial Non-hazardous Solid Waste Management Facilities or that they would be subject to the fee imposed by Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219 (1972, as amended).

On September 10, 2005, Fore entered into a contract with Harrison County for the speedy and efficient removal of debris from public right-of-ways in certain areas of Harrison County outside the various municipalities. [See Contract, Exh. 40, R. at 193] According to the Contract, Fore was responsible for debris pick-up along public right-of-ways, transportation to disposal sites and debris disposal. The Contract stated in part:

...This Contract is also entered into under the provision of Section 33-15-17 Mississippi Code of 1972, and pursuant to the Governor's Declaration of Disaster as provided by Section 33-15-31, Mississippi Code of 1972, as well as the President's Declaration of Disaster.

[Exh. 40, p. 1, R. at 193]

In addition to hiring contractors to remove the hurricane debris, the County also requested that MDEQ authorize and approve certain sites as emergency disposal sites for vegetation debris and for building and structural debris as was authorized in the MDEQ Emergency Order. Included within the Board of Supervisors' request were the LoBouy and Delancey sites which were either owned by Fore or available for his use.

At the same time that the Board of Supervisors was requesting approval for

these sites, the City of Gulfport was also seeking approval for the Delancey site to be used for the disposal of debris from within the City. The contractor for this work was Phillips and Jordan, Inc., hereinafter referred to as "P & J". [See Contract Exh. 4-28, R. at 191] Under P & J's Contract with the City of Gulfport, P & J was responsible for loading, hauling and disposing of hurricane debris located within the City of Gulfport. Fore and P & J entered into an Agreement whereby Fore agreed to allow P & J to utilize a portion of the Delancey site for their disposal operations. P & J was the operator of that portion of the Delancey site and provided its own employees and equipment to manage/dispose of its hurricane debris. [R. at 121-122] In consideration for being allowed to utilize a portion of the Delancev site, P & J paid Fore \$1.00 per cubic yard for vegetative debris and \$1.50 per cubic yard for building and structural debris. [R. at 130] Fore did not own this property and he in turn paid the property owners a fee for utilizing the site on a per cubic yard basis. [R. at 123-129] Fore had a long standing agreement with the owners of the property (the Delancey family) to mine dirt on this property and agreed to pay them \$.40 per cubic yard for dirt removed. He also agreed to pay the owners \$.40 per cubic yard for debris placed on the property. [R. at 128] The \$1.00 to \$1.50 per cubic yard price paid to Fore by P & J was the typical price paid by emergency site operators to the property owner when the operator was responsible for managing the debris and the owner had no involvement in the disposal operations. [See examples of other agreements where the owner charged the operator \$1.00 per cubic yard for hurricane debris disposal. Ex. 42, R. at 193]

Fore is a life long resident of the Mississippi Gulf Coast and has been in the trucking business for his entire adult life. For the past forty (40) years, Fore has been

involved in cleaning up debris after every major storm that has hit the Gulf Coast. This was done through a contract with one of the various governmental entities. As a part of these contracts, Fore was responsible for the ultimate disposal of the debris. At no time did Fore ever submit any request or application to MDEQ for operating a storm debris disposal site, nor was he ever required to report to MDEQ the amount of debris placed at a particular site or pay any fee. [R. at 107]

On September 16, 2005 and October 4, 2005, and at the request of Harrison County, MDEQ approved the Delancey and LoBouy sites, respectfully, for the emergency disposal of hurricane debris. [Exh. 4-9, 4-12, R. at 191] Although it was Harrison County who initally requested that these sites be approved, the approval letter was forwarded to Fore. The letters from MDEQ authorizing the sites outlined the requirements or conditions for operating and closing said emergency disposal sites. The letters specifically noted that only hurricane debris was allowed to be placed at either site. In addition, the authority to accept debris only lasted as long as the emergency existed. The authorization letters did not make any reference to the emergency disposal sites being considered Commercial Non-hazardous Solid Waste Management Facilities, nor did they provide that reports would have to be filed with MDEQ and MSTC or that there would be any fee imposed for disposing of debris at the sites. [See Authorization Letters Ex. 4-9 and 4-12, R. at 191] In fact, MDEQ and MSTC have never, prior to Hurricane Katrina, required the submission of any reports or the payment of any fee for operating an emergency disposal site. [See MDEQ's Supplemental Response to Interrogatory No. 9, p. 11, Exh. 41, R. at 193 and R. at 309-312]

After entering into a contract on September 10, 2005 with Harrison County, Fore began placing hurricane debris at the Delancey and LoBouy sites. In addition, P & J began utilizing a portion of the Delancey site for the placement of debris from the City of Gulfport. In February 2006, after the contracts for debris clean up had been entered into and after a significant portion of the debris had been picked up, MDEQ sent a memorandum to emergency site operators which stated, "... these sites, under state law, appear to be commercial disposal sites and are subject to reporting requirements on solid waste disposal activities conducted during Calendar Year 2005." [Exh. 4-15, R. at 191] The memorandum went on to state that reports would also have to be filed with the MSTC and that a fee of \$1.00 per ton would have to be paid for debris managed at this site. This was the first time that Fore had received any type of notification from MDEQ or MSTC about a fee being imposed on emergency site operators. As previously noted, this was the first time that MDEQ and MSTC had ever taken such a position with regard to any emegency disposal site. [Exh. 41, R. at 193 and R. at 309-312]

It was, and is, Fore's position that he was providing emergency services pursuant to an emergency order entered in compliance with Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-31 (1972, as amended) and not operating a Commercial Non-hazardous Solid Waste

Management Facility. The MDEQ and MSTC did not agree and, on March 3, 2009, the

MSTC affirmed the imposition of fees against Fore in the amount of Three Hundred

Thirty-Three Thousand, One Hundred Eighty-Two and 00/Dollars (\$333,182.00).

#### II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

### A. The Delancey and LoBouy Sites were not Commercial Nonhazardous Solid Waste Management Facilities

As pointed out by the lower court in its Opinion, "...Katrina was, and remains, the most devastating natural disaster in American history...". The amount of debris left in its wake was unimaginable and posed imminent and substantial endangerment threatening the public health and safety and the lives and property of the individuals residing throughout the emergency area. In response to this emergency, the Governor and the Director of the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) exercised their emergency powers pursuant to the Mississippi Emergency Management Law, being Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-1, et seg., (1972, as amended), and issued a Resolution and Emergency Order to address the emergency conditions. Under the terms of the Mississippi Emergency Management Law when such orders are entered "...All existing laws, ordinances, rules and regulations inconsistent with the provisions of this article, or of any order, rules, or regulations issued under the authority of this article shall be suspended during the period of time and to the extent that such conflict, disaster or emergency exists." Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-31 (1972, as amended). The Emergency Order addressed the establishment of emergency disposal sites to handle the massive amount of hurricane debris.

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