IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-02098

W. C. FORE d/b/a W. C. FORE TRUCKING, INC.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE f/k/a
MISSISSIPPI STATE TAX COMMISSION, MISSISSIPPI
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY AND
MISSISSIPPI COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL
QUALITY

APPELLEES

JOINT BRIEF OF APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

ATTORNEYS FOR MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE f/k/a MISSISSIPPI STATE TAX COMMISSION:

GARY W. STRINGER, ESQ. (MSB # ABIGAIL M. MARBURY, ESQ. (MSB # Post Office Box 22828

Jackson, MS 39225-2828 Telephone: (601) 923-7412 Facsimile: (601) 923-7423

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

While Fore asserts that he was never licensed or permitted for operating a commercial disposal site (Appellant's Br., p. 16), the record is clear in this case that he was authorized by MDEQ to operate these sites for the disposal of hurricane debris (R.E. 4 and 5.) Whether the sites were labeled or considered by Fore to be "commercial disposal sites" is irrelevant, because both sites clearly met both the statutory definition and MDEQ's interpretation of "commercial nonhazardous solid waste management facility" (Tr. 347, 355), said interpretation being entitled to deference. See Molden, 730 So. 2d at 32-33.

Fore's argument that both MDEQ and MSTC were confused about whether the fee was applicable to the activities being undertaken at sites receiving emergency authorization completely mischaracterizes the evidence in this case. (Appellant's Br., pp. 20-21.) In support of his argument, Fore quotes the following language from an internal MSTC email: "There may be some confusion about whether this particular type of waste is subject to the disposal fee. If there are only a few of these DEQ permitted sites we may need to send each site permittee a letter notifying them of their liability for the fee (if DEQ hasn't already done this)." (Exh. 4-13.)

However, this quote clearly implies that <u>any confusion was on the part of the operators</u>, not the agencies.

Additionally, Fore relies heavily on Exhibit 85, which purportedly summarizes a conversation between MDEQ and MSTC.⁶ However, the lower court did not admit Exhibit 85 as proof of the truth of its contents but instead for its reflection of the "approach and mental status of some personnel of DEQ regarding application of the tax in June of 2006." (App. R.E. 2, p. 844, f.n.10.) This document was prepared by an MSTC employee, not an MDEQ employee (Tr. 188-191), so it only reflects the approach and mental status of some personnel of MDEQ in so far as the MSTC employee understood it. Moreover, in his brief, Fore fails to include an ellipsis to indicate that language was left out of the quotation taken from Exhibit 85.⁷ (Appellant's Br., p. 20.) The complete quotation is as follows:

DEQ did not formally notify sites that they would be subject to \$1.00 per ton fee. They told some verbally. At the time they were not sure exactly how they would be classified and were not sure the \$1.00 fee would be charged.

(Exh. 85.) (Emphasis added.) As the complete quote implies, and MDEQ's representative, Mark Williams (hereinafter "Williams") explained at trial, there were many different types of emergency debris management sites after Hurricane Katrina. (Tr. 303-308.) In addition to emergency sites that landfilled debris, there were also emergency sites that staged, burned, or chipped debris. (Tr. 303-308.) Williams, in his capacity as Administrator of the Solid Waste Policy, Planning, & Grants Branch of MDEQ's Environmental Permitting Division, explained that there was no question to him that emergency sites that landfilled waste for compensation were subject to the fee, but there was some question in the beginning about whether some of the other types of emergency sites were subject to the fee. (Tr. 303-308.)

⁶ Exhibit 85 was admitted over the objection of MDEQ & MSTC. (Tr. 188-191.)

⁷ The lower court inadvertently adopted Fore's misquote of Exhibit 85. (App. R.E. 2, p. 844, f.n.10.)

Fore also highlights that, prior to Hurricane Katrina, the fee had not been imposed on sites which were granted emergency authorization by MDEQ. However, an agency's failure to enforce a law does not make the law inapplicable or relieve an agency from the responsibility to enforce the law in the future. "The mere failure of public officers charged with a public duty to enforce statutory and constitutional provisions in respect to the levy and collection of taxes should not be permitted to stand in the way of the correct administration of the law." Brady v. Getty Oil Co., 376 So. 2d 186, 190 (Miss. 1979) (citing Monaghan v. Jackson Casket Co., 136 So. 2d 603, 607 (Miss. 1962)). Fore also argues that neither MDEQ nor MSTC had previously treated emergency disposal sites as commercial nonhazardous solid waste management facilities. (Appellant's Br., p. 21.) However, the evidence Fore cites to support this claim, MDEO's First Supplemental Response to Interrogatory No. 9 and Williams' trial testimony, actually indicates that the operators of the pre-Katrina emergency disposal sites were required to file reports with MSTC and MDEQ pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219, but MDEQ could not find the required reports in its files. (Exh. 41; Tr. 309-312.) Neither the Supplemental Response nor Williams stated or implied that MDEQ or MSTC did not consider these sites commercial nonhazardous solid waste management facilities. Neither MSTC nor MDEO had any doubt that the Delancey and LoBouy Road sites were commercial nonhazardous solid waste management facilities and subject to the fee imposed by Miss. Code Ann. §17-17-219.

b. Fore's Argument that He Relied on the Governor's Resolution and MDEQ's Emergency Order When He Bid on the Harrison County Contract Lacks Merit

Fore entered into his contract with Harrison County for the pickup and disposal of debris on September 10, 2005. (R.E. 3.) The Emergency Order was subsequently issued September 13, 2005. (R.E. 7.) Therefore, Fore could not have relied on the Emergency Order in preparing his bid and entering into his contract with Harrison County for the pickup and disposal of debris, as

the Order was issued three days after the contract was executed. Moreover, MDEQ authorized Fore's use of the Delancey and LoBouy Road sites <u>after</u> Fore entered into his contract with Harrison County. (R.E. 3, 4, and 5.) Therefore, when preparing his bid for the Harrison County contract, Fore should have assumed that he would have to use another operator's disposal site (Tr. 359-360). Since Fore's contract with Harrison County required Fore to "assume all responsibility for operation of the disposal sites" and "pay for all disposal site dumping fees" (R.E. 3) and since Fore did not have authorization for his own disposal sites at the time of entering into his contract, Fore presumably included the cost of disposal site dumping fees in his bid.

Furthermore, Fore at all times had access to the laws and regulations governing solid waste disposal as well as to the advice of a solid waste management expert. Fore's expert witness, Stewart, consulted with Fore throughout the bidding process and while the Delancey and LoBouy Road sites were in operation. (Tr. 227, 232-233.) Fore and Stewart, who was also Fore's business partner (Tr. 227), testified regarding the process by which they prepared their bid for the Harrison County contract, including observing the waste and calculating the cost to transport and dispose of it. (Tr. 119, 227, 232-233.) Stewart was admitted as an expert in the field of solid waste management, being a Professional Engineer and having dealt with solid waste management off and on over a span of about thirty years. (Tr. 217-224.) Stewart also testified that he was familiar with the Solid Wastes Disposal Law and MDEQ's regulations. (Tr. 220, 225, 249-250.)

c. Fore's Argument that MDEQ and MSTC Are Required to Give Notice to Taxpayers That a Tax Will Be Imposed Lacks Merit

Fore argued that he received no notice that the fee would be imposed until he received the memorandum sent by MDEQ on February 8, 2006, which included a form on which to report amounts of debris and noting that a fee of \$1.00 per ton would be imposed. (Exh. 77.) However,

the February 8, 2006, MDEQ memorandum to emergency site operators for solid waste reporting was sent out at the normal time that permitted site operators were sent reporting forms by MDEQ. (Tr. 353-354.) Furthermore, Fore fails to cite to any law requiring MDEQ or MSTC to provide Fore with notice of taxes and fees that he may incur through his business activities. Fore could not provide said citations because they do not exist. There is no requirement regarding notice of potential tax liabilities. Taxpayers are presumed to know the law. *City of Ellisville v. Smith*, 72 So. 2d 451, 453 (Miss. 1954). No provision of the Solid Wastes Disposal Law, the Mississippi Sales Tax Law under which the fee at issue is administered, or any other law requires that a taxpayer be given notice that taxes are owed.

Fore has a duty to know the nature of the business he transacts and the legal requirements thereof. The Court has held, "Every person must be presumed to know the law, and in [the] absence of some misrepresentation, or illegal concealment of facts, the person must abide the consequences of his contracts and actions." *Royer Homes of Miss., Inc. v. Chandeleur Homes, Inc.*, 857 So. 2d 748, 754 (Miss. 2003) (quoting *Farragut v. Massey*, 612 So. 2d 325, 329 (Miss. 1992)). Clearly, neither agency was required to give prior notice of the applicability of the fee.

However, the record indicates that <u>Fore did have notice</u> of his responsibility for compliance with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations. Through execution of the contract with Harrison County on September 10, 2005, Fore represented that he was "familiar with all federal, state, and local ordinances, laws, rules, and regulations with respect to debris pick-up, transportation, and disposal" and that he would "fully comply therewith at all times during performance of work" under the contract. (R.E. 3.) Fore's contract with Harrison County also required Fore to "assume all responsibility for operation of the disposal sites" and "<u>pay for all disposal site dumping fees.</u>" (R.E. 3.) (Emphasis added.) Fore's subsequent requests to Harrison County, dated September 10, 2005, and September 15, 2005, for approval of his disposal sites

included the following language: "W.C. Fore agrees to follow all DEQ rules, regulations, and law on this property." (R.E. 6.) MDEQ's letters to Fore, dated September 16, 2005, and October 4, 2005, authorizing the Delancey and LoBouy Road sites, respectively, provided "should you fail to adhere to the operating requirements outlined above or to other applicable laws, regulations, or ordinances, it may be necessary for MDEQ to require additional operating conditions or terminate this emergency authorization." (R.E. 4 and 5.)

There is no doubt that MDEQ put Fore on notice that there were other applicable laws which he would be required to follow. In fact, Fore had a responsibility to acquaint himself with these requirements. There is no evidence that Fore ever inquired about these applicable authorities. If Fore had questions about his operations, and specifically about any potential tax consequences, he could have sought information from either MDEQ or MSTC. However, there is no evidence in the record that he ever did so prior to undertaking disposal activities at the Delancey and LoBouy Road sites.

2. <u>The Delancey and LoBouy Road Sites Were Not Exempt from the Fee Imposed</u> by Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219

d. Fore Bears the Burden of Proving that He Is Entitled to a Tax . Exemption

Because the Delancey and LoBouy Road sites met the statutory definition of commercial nonhazardous solid waste management facility, by arguing that the fee does not apply to the operations of these sites, Fore is clearly attempting to read an exemption into Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219. Fore bears the burden of proving that the management of waste by Hurricane Katrina emergency disposal site operators was exempt from the fee levied by Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219. The Mississippi Supreme Court has consistently applied the familiar rule of construction in tax exemption cases:

Since taxation is the rule and exemption is the exception, and since exemptions from taxation are not favored, general rule is that a grant of exemption from taxation is never presumed; on the contrary, in all cases having doubt as to legislative intention, or as to inclusion of particular property within terms of statute, presumption is in favor of taxing power, and burden is on claimant to prove or establish clearly his right to exemption, bringing himself clearly within terms of such conditions that statute may impose.

Med. Devices, Inc., 624 So. 2d at 990 (citing United States v. Mississippi, 578 F. Supp. 348, 349 (S.D. Miss. 1984)). In fact, the Court has held, "All reasonable doubts are resolved against the exemption." Med. Devices, 624 So. 2d at 991 (citing Monaghan v. Jackson Casket Co., 136 So. 2d 603, 606 (Miss. 1962)).

e. The Delancey and LoBouy Road Sites Were Not Exempted from the Fee by MDEQ's Emergency Order or the Mississippi Emergency Management Law

Fore places much emphasis on the Emergency Order executed by MDEQ's Executive Director (R.E. 7) and the authority under which it was issued, Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-31 (Rev. 2010). Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-31(b) states, in pertinent part:

All existing laws, ordinances, rules and regulations <u>inconsistent with</u> the provisions of [the Mississippi Emergency Management Law], or of any order, rule, or regulation issued under the authority of this article, shall be suspended during the period of time and to the extent that such conflict, disaster or emergency exists.

(Emphasis added.) However, this statute would not serve to suspend the subject fee. Fore misinterprets this law by asserting that it served to suspend "all" existing laws and regulations related to the permitting and operation of sites receiving emergency authorization for disposal of hurricane debris. (Appellant's Br. 18.) This is clearly not true, as the law specifically provides that it only suspends those laws, ordinances, rules and regulations *inconsistent with* the provisions of the Mississippi Emergency Management Law, or of any order, rule, or regulation issued under the authority of this law. Imposition of the fee was not inconsistent with any provision of the Emergency Order or with any provision of the Mississippi Emergency

Management Law, and it did not hinder any emergency response. Further, the fee did not have to be paid until nearly eleven months after Hurricane Katrina occurred. See Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219(1). Fore fails to offer any evidence or argument as to how the imposition of the nonhazardous solid waste management fee is inconsistent with the provisions of the Emergency Order or with the provisions of the Mississippi Emergency Management Law. Likewise, Fore has cited no authority which stands for the more general proposition that the imposition of a tax or fee is inconsistent with the Mississippi Emergency Management Law.

The one case cited by Fore to support his argument is clearly distinguishable from this case. The *Bolivar County* case dealt with suspension of the normal purchasing procedures required of governmental entities. *See Bolivar County v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 797 So. 2d 790 (Miss. 1999). Just as the emergency nature of a disaster would result in immediate need for supplies and the suspension of the lengthy purchasing process, it would also result, as it did in the case of Hurricane Katrina, in a suspension of other lengthy processes like the permitting process MDEQ oversees related to solid waste management. This process, according to the testimony of MDEQ, takes at least a year to complete (Tr. 394), and, according to Fore's proffered expert, takes a minimum of six months to complete (Tr. 234). However, the imposition of a fee certainly has no bearing and would not hinder the timeliness of responding to a disaster.

What makes *Bolivar County* further distinguishable is that it involves two statutes that appear to conflict with each other: Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(k), addressing emergency purchase procedures, and Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-17, addressing incurring obligations during times of emergency. The Court in *Bolivar County* found that Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(k) "requires that the statutorily mandated procedures be delayed instead of being forgiven as [Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-17] allows." *Bolivar County*, 797 So. 2d at 795. However, the Court in *Bolivar County* held, "[Miss. Code Ann. § 33-15-17] states that these obligations may be

incurred absent the formalities mandated elsewhere. Therefore, to require the Act to be read *in pari materia* with Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(k) . . . would be to defeat the purpose of the Act." *Id.* In the current case, we do not have two conflicting statutes as the Mississippi Emergency Management Law, as well as the Emergency Order issued under the authority of that law, do not address disposal site fees and are therefore not in conflict with Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-219.

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